THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-40-02443
Appellate Case No. 2016-000667

Timothy E. Bookert, Jr.,

Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of
Mental Health, and South
Carolina Treasurer's Office,

Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

June 24, 2016

ALAN WILSON
South Carolina Attorney General
JOHANNA C. VALENZUELA
S.C. Bar Number 79834
Sr. Asst. Deputy Attorney General
JARED Q. LIBET
S.C. Bar Number 74975
Asst. Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3733
Attorneys for Appellants

RECEIVED

JUN 24 2016

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The trial court erred when it denied Appellant's JNOV and New Trial Motion where the overwhelming evidence shows a bailment never existed between Respondent and the fictional Aaron Kennedy and where all of Respondent's claims required proof of the existence of a bailment.
2. The trial court erred in its prejudicial hearsay ruling that allowed Respondent to testify about the amount of the money in controversy where Respondent admitted he had no personal knowledge as to the amount of money.
3. The trial court erred in enforcing a verdict that will result in Respondent's unlawful possession of the funds at issue.
4. The trial court erred in excluding Appellants' requested jury charges where there was sufficient evidence to create an inference that Respondent violated state and federal tax statutes through his possession of the funds at issue.
5. The trial court erred in failing to grant a new trial where Respondent's counsel told the jurors in closing argument that if the jury issued a verdict in favor of Appellants, the Appellants would "go out in that parking lot after this is all over and high five each other and say you know we pulled one over on that jury" where counsel immediately objected and had put the Court on notice prior to closing of the likelihood of Respondent making prejudicial statements in closing argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 23, 2013, Respondent Timothy E. Bookert, by and through his attorney, filed a civil suit against the South Carolina Department of Mental Health (“DMH”) and the South Carolina Treasurer’s Office, alleging the state agencies had committed trover and conversion, tortious interference with contract, breach of implied constructive bailment, and tortious interference with personal chattels against Respondent such that Respondent was entitled to a sum of \$208,700 in damages. The complaint also sought punitive damages, costs, and any further relief the Court deemed just and proper. The State filed its Answer on May 24, 2013, denying Respondent was entitled to the requested relief by responding to the factual allegations and asserting that the complaint should be dismissed for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, that the claims were barred by the equitable doctrine of unclean hands, that the claims were barred to the extent the funds were acquired through illegal activities or to the extent the bailment contract was illegal, that there were no damages in the case, that the claims were barred by the provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, that the punitive damages and prejudgment interest were barred by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, that Respondent was estopped from bringing these claims because he acquiesced to possession by DMH, and that the claims were barred because Appellants had at all time acted in good faith.

Through discovery, the parties exchanged documents and answers to interrogatories relevant to these claims and defenses. In addition, Appellants took the deposition of Respondent.

Following discovery, both parties filed cross motions for summary judgment, Appellants filed a motion to compel, and Respondent filed a motion for spoliation of evidence. On June 5,

2014, the motions came before the circuit court, the Honorable Alison Renee Lee, for oral argument. On March 26, 2015, the circuit court entered an order denying Respondent's motion for spoliation of evidence, denying the cross motions for summary judgment, and granting in part Appellants' motion to compel. The parties proceeded to trial on November 30, 2015, before a jury and the Honorable Alison Renee Lee. On December 3, 2015, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondent in the amount of \$208,700. Appellants filed a timely motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict ("JNOV") pursuant to Rule 50(b), or, in the alternative, Motion for a New Trial Absolute pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP. On February 24, 2016, the trial court denied that motion, and Appellants received written notice of the entry of the Order on February 29, 2016. Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on March 29, 2016.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 25, 2011, an employee with the South Carolina Department of Mental Health found two small cardboard boxes filled with \$208,700 in cash in a storage room on the C.M. Tucker Campus of DMH. (Tr. p. 78, ll. 6-18; p. 82, ll. 1-3; Court's Ex. 3, Defense Ex. 3.) The employee alerted his supervisor about what he had found (Tr. p. 83, ll. 10-14), and the supervisor in turn notified DMH's Public Safety office (Tr. p. 85, ll. 8-9). While Public Safety was inspecting the boxes of cash, Respondent, at the time an employee with DMH, approached the supervisor, asked what was happening, and after being told some money was found, stated the money was his own. (Tr. p. 163, l. 22 – p. 164, l. 1; p. 111, l. 2-3.) Public Safety officers and SLED agents advised Respondent of his *Miranda* rights and then interviewed him about the money. (Tr. p. 406, l. 1 – p. 407, l.1; p. 275, ll. 19-23.) Respondent provided a written statement stating the money was not his and stating he was holding the money on behalf of an acquaintance named Aaron Kennedy. (Tr. p. 410, l. 18 – p. 411, l. 5.)

According to Respondent, Aaron Kennedy called him around March of 2011, asked to come by Respondent's home, came by the home and asked Respondent to keep \$210,000.00 in cash for him until he got out of prison. (Tr. p. 165, ll. 2-13; p. 171, l. 16 – p. 177, l. 17.) Respondent describes Aaron Kennedy as a black male, about 6'2" tall, about 200 pounds, and around 40 years of age. (Tr. p. 407, ll. 18-25.) Respondent claims he knows Kennedy from talking with him at the race tracks every once in a while when they would run into each other and from going to a "restaurant or a bar or something like that after, had a beer, something like that." (Tr. 167, ll. 3-21.) Respondent believes Kennedy is from Hartsville, South Carolina, and thinks

he was in the concrete business. (Tr. p. 264, ll. 15-21.) Additionally, Respondent believes Kennedy was headed to prison for six to nine months in March of 2011. (Tr. p. 259, l. 1-25.) Aside from these descriptors, Respondent claims to know nothing else about Kennedy. (Tr. p. 248, l. 2 – p. 251, l. 7.)

Respondent cannot explain where Kennedy is now, or why Kennedy has not returned for his money. Respondent further cannot provide any friends or family of Kennedy, any contact information for Kennedy, or how Kennedy came by the \$208,700.00 in cash. (Tr. p. 262, l. 23 - p. 265, l. 12.) Respondent has made zero efforts to locate or contact Kennedy or any of his family or friends. (Tr. p. 262, l. 22 – p. 265, l. 24.) Unsure of when Kennedy would return for the money, Respondent does not have a plan for the cash except to deposit the funds in a safety deposit box. (Tr. p. 265, l. 25 – p. 266, l. 14.)

SLED agent Max Dorsey and FBI Agent Jason Greenan have attempted to locate Aaron Kennedy¹ by searching South Carolina's Department of Motor Vehicles (SCDMV) system, the South Carolina Department of Corrections' (SCDOC) online system, and the Federal Bureau of Prisons' (BOP) online system. (Tr. p. 411, ll. 2-19; p. 412, l. 2 – p. 414, 114; p. 446, l. 17 – p. 447, l. 21). When Lt. Dorsey checked SCDOC's and SCDMV's online system, he did not find anyone who met the description of Aaron Kennedy. (Tr. p. 412, l. 2 – p. 414, l. 14.)

Respondent claims never to have taken the cash out of the bags and to only know how much money was in the box based on hearsay from the alleged bailor. (Tr. p. 271, l. 20 – p. 272 l. 17.) Respondent admits there was nothing on the cash or the packaging that identified the cash or

¹ Respondent provided the spelling of Aaron Kennedy. Tr. p. 416, ll. 9 – 23; Exhibit A to Appellants Motion for Summary Judgment, Respondent's Written Statement.

money as his (Tr. p. 268, l. 13 – p. 270, l. 9). Respondent did not mark his name or contact information anywhere in the boxes or on the bags or on the cash. (Tr. p. 268, l. 13 – p. 270, l. 9.) Despite living with the mother of his three children, a woman he lived with for 15 years, and his three children at the time he allegedly possessed the money and despite claiming to have kept the \$208,700.00 in his home for about three weeks, Respondent never spoke to anyone about the cash and no one ever saw the cash (Tr. p. 251, l. 21 – p. 254, l. 23). Respondent has no photographs or documents referencing or showing the cash. (Tr. p. 269, ll. 1-2; p. 254, l. 24 – p. 255, l. 5.)

When the money was found on DMH property, DMH placed the money in a non-interest bearing account labeled Unclaimed Property Funds. (Court's Ex. 1, Stipulation.)

ARGUMENT

I. The Overwhelming Evidence Shows a Bailment Agreement Was Never Formed Between Respondent and Aaron Kennedy

Even when viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to Respondent, the only reasonable inference therefrom is that Aaron Kennedy does not exist and, therefore, there is no bailment agreement from which Respondent can claim a possessory interest in the money found on DMH property. And in order to maintain an action for conversion, Respondent must have the right to possess the alleged converted property. *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 667, 582 S.E.2d 432, 442 (Ct. App. 2003). The Court therefore erred when it denied Appellants' motion for a directed verdict (Tr. p. 336, l. 17 – p. 362, l. 2; p. 471, l. 19 – p. 493, l. 15), motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and motion for a new trial absolute.

“In ruling on motions for directed verdict and JNOV, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions and to deny the motions where either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt.” *Law v. S. Carolina Dep't of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 434–35, 628 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006) (citing *Jinks v. Richland County*, 355 S.C. 341, 345, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 (2003)). “The appellate court will reverse the trial court's ruling on a JNOV motion only when there is no evidence to support the ruling or where the ruling is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* (citing *Hinkle v. Nat'l Cas. Ins. Co.*, 354 S.C. 92, 96, 579 S.E.2d 616, 618 (2003)).

In order to maintain an action for conversion, “[t]he plaintiff must show either title or right to possession of the property at the time of conversion.” *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209,

227, 644 S.E.2d 740, 749 (Ct. App. 2007) aff'd, 383 S.C. 583, 681 S.E.2d 875 (2009)(citing *Oxford Fin. Cos. v. Burgess*, 303 S.C. 534, 402 S.E.2d 480 (1991)). Conversion may arise by some illegal use, illegal misuse, or illegal detention of another's property. *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 667, 582 S.E.2d 432, 442 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Owens v. Andrews Bank & Trust Co.*, 265 S.C. 490, 496, 220 S.E.2d 116, 119 (1975)). And the conversion must come from a wrongful taking or detention. *Id.* (citing *Castell v. Stephenson Fin. Co.*, 244 S.C. 45, 50-52, 135 S.E.2d 311, 313 (1964)).

In this case, Respondent's sole claim for the right to possess the \$208,700 found on DMH property is derived from his alleged bailment agreement with a supposed Aaron Kennedy. Neither before nor during trial has Respondent ever claimed he himself owns the \$208,700. Rather, Respondent continued to maintain through closing argument that his possessory interest in the \$208,700 arose solely through his purported agreement with Aaron Kennedy. (Tr. p. 522, ll. 12-14.) Since Aaron Kennedy does not exist, then there is no factual basis upon which a jury could find that Respondent had a possessory interest in the \$208,700. The evidence offered in this case overwhelmingly shows that no bailment agreement between Respondent and Aaron Kennedy was ever formed and that Aaron Kennedy does not exist, and thus, the jury's verdict does not have a basis in fact.

The evidence of the existence of a bailment agreement between Respondent and a supposed Aaron Kennedy is limited to Respondent's testimony, and Respondent's testimony on this factual issue is not credible. Respondent is personally motivated to take possession of the \$208,700. Respondent offered no evidence apart from his self-serving testimony to support his

assertion that a bailment agreement was formed between himself and Aaron Kennedy. In fact, Respondent's description of how the alleged agreement was formed defies logic and undercuts his credibility on this contested factual issue.

According to Respondent, a casual social acquaintance by the name of Aaron Kennedy suddenly dropped by Respondent's house to ask him to hold \$210,000 in cash while Aaron Kennedy goes to prison for six to eight months. (Tr. p. 165, ll. 2-13; p. 171, l. 16 – p. 177, l. 17.) After Respondent learns that Aaron Kennedy is going to prison, Respondent is handed a cardboard box full of hundred dollar bills in crown royal bags but asks no questions about the origin of the money. (Tr. p. 243, l. 24 – p. 245, l. 18; p. 274, l. 22 – p. 275, l. 18.) The parties do not exchange contact information; they do not count the amount of the cash so that they both agree on how much Respondent is actually holding; there is no receipt drafted to reflect the alleged bailment; they do not discuss the origin of the money, the reason Aaron Kennedy is going to prison, or the prison that Aaron Kennedy is headed to; and there is no plan to reconnect once Aaron Kennedy gets out of prison. (Tr. p. 248, l. 2 – p. 250, l.12; p. 254, l. 24 – p. 256, l. 15; p. 258, l. 3 – p. 259, l. 25; p. 262, l. 23 – p. 265, l. 24; p. 274, l. 1 – p. 275, l. 18.) Moreover, simply by happenstance, Respondent never had Aaron Kennedy's phone number, but Aaron Kennedy had Respondent's phone number, and the one and only time that this supposed Aaron Kennedy called Respondent, Kennedy's phone number showed as unlisted. (Tr. p. 250, l. 16 – p. 251, l. 7.)

Additionally, in the four and a half years since this "Aaron Kennedy" allegedly dropped off \$208,700 in cash at Respondent's doorstep, Respondent has received no communication from Aaron Kennedy inquiring about the status of the money. (Tr. p. 263, l. 16 – p. 264, l. 9.)

Respondent has not had any visits or phone calls from Aaron Kennedy or anyone purporting to speak on his behalf even though Respondent has kept the same phone number and address (until just last year) and it is now four years past the time when Aaron Kennedy should have been out of prison. (Tr. p. 263, l. 16 – P. 265, l. 25.) Equally as puzzling is Respondent's testimony that he has made no effort whatsoever to locate Aaron Kennedy at any point in time. (Tr. p. 264, l. 22 – p. 265, l. 24.) Moreover, even though Respondent claims to have since seen friends of Aaron Kennedy's at the racetrack where they met, he has never inquired from these claimed friends about Aaron Kennedy's whereabouts. (Tr. p. 265, ll. 4 – 12.) When asked on cross-examination if he could provide *just one* name of a mutual acquaintance, Respondent testified he could not provide a single name. (Tr. p. 315, ll. 14 – p. 316, l. 1.)

Respondent's story of how he supposedly came into possession of the \$208,700 given to him by a person he could not later contact, knew very little about, cannot be located by law enforcement, and who has never shown up to inquire about the money in four and a half years is not credible. Common sense, life experience, and logic dictate this is not the way people behave when they enter agree to hold over \$200,000 in cash. The facts offered during trial by Respondent to prove the existence of a bailment agreement with Kennedy do not justify the jury's verdict finding that Respondent had possession of the \$208,700 based on an agreement with Aaron Kennedy. Because there is no credible evidence to support the ruling, this Court should reverse the trial court's ruling denying Appellants' motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or in the alternative grant a new trial.

II. The Trial Court Erred in Admitting Prejudicial Hearsay Testimony from Respondent on the Amount of Money

Furthermore, the Court erred when it permitted Respondent, over the objection of Appellant, to testify that he was told by Aaron Kennedy that the amount of money he received from Aaron Kennedy was \$210,000. Respondent, by his own admission, had no personal knowledge of the amount of money found on DMH property, and his statements concerning the amount of money involved were inadmissible hearsay. The trial court's ruling was significantly prejudicial because Respondent's statement on the dollar amount was the only piece of evidence connecting him to the funds found on DMH property by another DMH employee.

"The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion." *State v. Foster*, 354 S.C. 614, 620-21, 582 S.E.2d 426, 429 (2003) (citing *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law." *Id.* (citing *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000)). Hearsay is defined "as a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial . . . , offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." SCRE 801(d). Where a declarant has no personal knowledge of what he testifies to and where the declarant's testimony is based only on statements made out of court by another, that testimony is hearsay and must not be admitted. *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 71, 773 S.E.2d 607, 614 (Ct. App. 2015) ("We find Bynum's testimony was hearsay. Bynum had no personal knowledge of any transactions His testimony demonstrates his knowledge was based exclusively on documents [and] [b]y testifying to a conclusion based only on statements he read in documents, Bynum necessarily

testified to the truth of those statements. His testimony, therefore, was offered to prove the truth of the statements and was hearsay.”) If it was error to admit the evidence and Appellants are prejudiced by the admission of the evidence, this Court must reverse and order a new trial. *See Fields v. Regional Medical Center Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (noting that to warrant reversal, appellant must prove the evidentiary ruling was erroneous and resulted in prejudice). In *Deep Keel*, this Court held that where the respondent could not have proven the amount remaining due on the debt at issue without the hearsay testimony, that evidentiary error was prejudicial to the appellant in the case. *Deep Keel*, 413 S.C. at 74, 773 S.E.2d at 615.

In this case, Respondent testified at trial that he had never counted the money found on DMH property (Tr. p. 271, ll. 20- p. 272, ll. 17), and the only reason that he stated the money was \$210,000 was because that is what he was allegedly told by Aaron Kennedy. (Tr. 272, ll. 6-9).

Q: So, you’ve had no personal knowledge of how much money was in that box aside from your claim that Aaron Kennedy told you?

A: Correct.

(Tr. 272, ll. 6-9).

Because Respondent had no personal knowledge of the amount of money and his testimony was elicited for the purpose of showing his knowledge of the money prior to it being counted by law enforcement, his testimony about the amount of cash was hearsay (Tr. p. 329, l. 20 – p. 330, l. 3). SCRE 801, 805. As hearsay, this testimony should have been excluded by the Court, and its admission was error.

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