THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000667
Common Pleas Case No.: 2013-CP-40-02443

RECEIVED

SEP 26 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Timothy E. Bookert, Jr.

Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of
Mental Health, and South Carolina
Treasurer's Office

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert E. Kneece, Jr.
Kneece, Kneece, and Brown
2520 Devine Street
Columbia, S.C. 29205
Phone: (803) 799-9393

Attorney for Appellant

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

would locate inmates in facilities in states other than South Carolina, U.S. territories, or foreign nations. *Id.* Databases of 49 other states and U.S. territories were not checked. *Id.* As regards "CLEAR," Agent Dorsey could not confirm its reliability, nor confirm how it collected data for its database. Tr. pp. 421-2. FBI Agent Greenan also relied on the same databases. Tr. pp. 446-7.

Lastly, FBI agent Greenan also testified regarding a federal investigation into one Devin Sistrunk. Tr. pp. 444-6; and Defense exhibits 16 and 17. These exhibits refer to the federal drug charges against Mr. Sistrunk, and a federal forfeiture as to his interest in property. However, none of the documents implicate the Respondent in any way, nor do they show that any interest in any property owned by the Respondent was forfeited. Exhibits 16 and 17.

ARGUMENT 1

The trial court did not err in denying the Appellants' JNOV and New Trial Motion on the existence of a bailment as the evidence presented at trial fully supported the existence of a bailment between Respondent and Aaron Kennedy.

The trial court properly denied the Appellants' post-trial motions. The Respondent testified at length as to a bailment between himself and Aaron Kennedy. Thus, there was ample evidence in the record to support the verdict and judgment. The Appellants' argument is little more than a summary of their presentation before the jury.

(1) Standard of Review and Law:

(a) Post-Trial Motions

In *RFT Management Co., L.L.C. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 732 S.E.2d 166, 331-4 (S.C. 2012) the Supreme Court set forth the standard to be applied in motions of this type, both JNOV motions and motions under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine.

Regarding JNOV, directed verdict, and new trial motions the Court held:

When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict or a JNOV, this Court must apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). The trial court must deny a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference or its inference is in doubt. *Strange v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 314 S.C. 427, 445 S.E.2d 439 (1994). Moreover, "[a] motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict." *Gastineau v. Murphy*, 331 S.C. 565, 568, 503 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1998). **An appellate court will reverse the trial court's ruling only if no evidence supports the ruling below.** *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (Ct.App.2000). **In deciding such motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence.** *Id.* at 300, 536 S.E.2d at 419.

Id. at 332-3 (emphasis added). See also, *Allegro Inc. v. Scully*, __ S.E.2d __, 2016 WL 4474336 (S.C. 2016); *Welch v. Epstein*, 536 S.E.2d 408, 418-9 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000) (Neither trial nor appellate court has authority to weigh credibility of the witnesses in ruling on a directed verdict, JNOV, or new trial motion.); and *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dept.*, 494 S.E.2d 571 (S.C. 1997) (same).

Regarding the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine the *RTF Management* Court held:

[T]he thirteenth juror doctrine is a vehicle by which the trial court may take its own view of the evidence and grant a new trial if it disagrees with the jury's verdict. *Folkens v. Hunt*, 300 S.C. 251, 387 S.E.2d 265 (1990). This is also called granting a new trial upon the facts, and the judge is not required to give the reasons for its ruling. *Id.* at 254, 387 S.E.2d at 267. The effect is the same as if the jury had failed to reach a verdict. *Id.* **A trial court's order granting or denying a new trial upon the facts will not be disturbed unless the decision is wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusion reached is controlled by an error of law.** *Id.* at 254-55, 387 S.E.2d at 267. "The granting of a new trial upon the facts is not the equivalent of granting a directed verdict." *McEntire*, 353 S.C. at 632, 578 S.E.2d at 748. The question of whether the evidence is legally sufficient to sustain a verdict, a question of law, is distinguishable from the question of whether a fair preponderance of the evidence supports a verdict, which is a matter involving the exercise of discretion. *Id.* at 632-33, 578 S.E.2d at 748. Stated another way, a party's evidence might make a case one for the jury, but the evidence might be so outweighed by the countervailing evidence that, in the exercise of its discretion, a trial court could choose to set aside the verdict under the thirteenth juror doctrine. *Id.* at 633, 578 S.E.2d at 748 (citing *Russell v. Pilger*, 113 Vt. 537, 37 A.2d 403, 414 (1944)).

RTF Management, 732 S.E.2d at 334 (emphasis added).

(b) Bailment

One of the principle cases on bailment in South Carolina is *Hadfield v. Gilchrist*, 538 S.E.2d 268 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000).

A bailment is created by the delivery of personal property by one person to another in trust for a specific purpose, pursuant to an express or implied contract to fulfill that trust. 8A Am.Jur.2d *Bailments* § 1 (1997). See *Home Indem. Co. v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co.*, 252 S.C. 452, 460, 166 S.E.2d

819, 824 (1969) (“Bailment has been defined as the delivery of a chattel for some express or particular purpose upon a contract, express or implied, that, after the purpose has been fulfilled, then the chattel shall be redelivered to the bailor, or otherwise dealt with according to his directions.”).

Id. at 272. In addition, the bailment may be formal or informal, no specific words or acts are necessary, and it may be in writing or oral. 8A Am. Jur. 2d Bailments § 33. See also 8 C.J.S. Bailments § 27.

(c) Conversion

“Conversion” is defined as the unauthorized assumption and exercise of the rights of ownership over goods or personal chattels belonging to another, to the alteration of their condition or to the exclusion of the rights of the owner. *Green v. Waidner*, 284 S.C. 35, 37, 324 S.E.2d 331, 333 (Ct.App.1984). See *Owens v. Andrews Bank & Trust Co.*, 265 S.C. 490, 496, 220 S.E.2d 116, 119 (1975) (Conversion may arise by the illegal detention of another's property.). “There can be no conversion of money unless there is an obligation on the defendant to deliver a specific, identifiable fund to the plaintiff.” *Richardson's Rests., Inc. v. Nat'l Bank of S.C.*, 304 S.C. 289, 294, 403 S.E.2d 669, 672 (Ct.App.1991). Money, however, may be the subject of conversion if “it is capable of being identified and there may be conversion of determinate sums even though the specific coins and bills are not identified.” *SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox*, 301 S.C. 493, 498, 392 S.E.2d 789, 792 (1990).

Mullis v. Trident Emergency Physicians, 570 S.E.2d 549, 550-1 (S.C. Ct. App. 2002). See also, *SSI Medical Services v. Cox*, 392 S.E.2d 789, 792-3 (S.C. 1990) (trover and conversion); and *Owens v. Andrews Bank & Trust Co.*, 220 S.E.2d 116, 119 (S.C. 1975) (same).

(2) *Analysis:*

The entire thrust of Appellants' argument is that the Respondent's case is not credible. Appellants' brief pp. 8-14. In fact, Appellants' argument in this respect is little more than a summary of their case as presented to the jury.

The trial court completely rejected the Appellants' arguments in its post-trial order of February 22, 2016. Post-trial order of trial court denying Appellant's post-trial motions, pp. 1-11. The post-trial order of the circuit court addresses each and every one of Appellants arguments as regards this issue and finds them wanting. *Id.* Specifically, as regards bailment and conversion the trial court properly noted Respondent's testimony. *Id.* at pp. 5-6. Respondent testified at length concerning how he came by the money and why he chose to conceal it at his place of work. Respondents Statement of Facts, *supra*. and Tr. pp. 161-331. The Respondent's testimony was sufficient to support a bailment and the cause of action for a conversion. Thus, there is more than sufficient evidence in the record to sustain the verdict and judgment.

Appellants completely overlook the law as set forth above. In ruling on motions for directed verdict and JNOV, the trial and appellate courts must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions

. *RTF Management, supra*. In addition, when ruling on these kinds of motions, "neither the trial court nor the appellate court has the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence." *RTF Management, 732 S.E.2d at 333* and *Allegro Inc., supra*. The Appellants ignore this aspect of the law in its entirety in their brief.

Because the Appellants' entire argument is a disputation on the credibility of the Respondent and the Respondent's case, it must fail as a matter of law. The jury decided this issue after hearing the evidence. The jury rejected the very same arguments that the Appellant is now making to this Court. Tr. pp, 538-53.

The Respondent submits that this Court should reject Appellants' argument and affirm the verdict and judgment below.

ARGUMENT 2

The trial court properly allowed the Respondent to testify to the terms of the bailment, specifically the amount of money involved.

As between the parties to a contract or bailment, the terms are frequently deemed verbal acts, and, therefore, non-hearsay. The words themselves are operative and bring about legal change and consequences. As such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by permitting the Respondent to testify concerning the bailment/contract as the Respondent was the other party to this legal arrangement. In any event, the Respondent testified that the amount of money involved was \$210,000.00; however, the Appellants and the Respondent stipulated at trial that the actual amount of money at issue was \$208,700.00. Thus, even if the trial court committed error in this regard it is difficult to see how it is not harmless error. Stipulation as to the amount of money.

(1) Standard of review and Law:

(a) Evidentiary Rulings

Rulings on evidentiary matters by a trial court are subject to an abuse of discretion

standard of review.

As a general rule, the admission of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. *Gamble v. Int'l Paper Realty Corp. of South Carolina*, 323 S.C. 367, 373, 474 S.E.2d 438, 441 (1996); *Hofer v. St. Clair*, 298 S.C. 503, 513, 381 S.E.2d 736, 742 (1989); *R & G Constr., *242 Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 439, 540 S.E.2d 113, 121 (Ct.App.2000). On appeal, therefore, this Court will not disturb a trial court's evidentiary rulings absent a clear abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 439, 540 S.E.2d at 121; *Elledge v. Richland/Lexington School Dist. Five*, 352 S.C. 179, 185, 573 S.E.2d 789, 792 (2002); *see also Whaley v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 456, 483, 609 S.E.2d 286, 300 (2005) (observing admission of evidence will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion). The trial judge's decision will not be reversed on appeal unless it appears he clearly abused his discretion and the objecting party was prejudiced by the decision. *S.C. Prop. & Cas. Guar. Ass'n v. Yensen*, 345 S.C. 512, 548 S.E.2d 880 (Ct.App.2001); *Sullivan v. Davis*, 317 S.C. 462, 454 S.E.2d 907 (Ct.App.1995). "For this Court to reverse a case based on the admission of evidence, both error and prejudice must be shown." *Stevens v. Allen*, 336 S.C. 439, 448, 520 S.E.2d 625, 629 (Ct.App.1999) (citing *Timmons v. South Carolina Tricentennial Comm'n*, 254 S.C. 378, 175 S.E.2d 805 (1970)).

Seabrook Island Property Owner's Ass'n v. Berger, 616 S.E.2d 431, 434 (S.C. Ct. App. 2005). This rule clearly applies to hearsay testimony. *State v. Byers*, 710 S.E.2d 55 (S.C. 2011).

(b) Hearsay/Bailment/Contract

The testimony complained of here concerned the terms of a bailment/contract, specifically the value of the funds which were the subject of the bailment. However, statements, admissions, and declarations by the parties to a bailment are admissible. 8A Am. Jur. 2d Bailments § 227. As noted previously, the bailment may be formal or informal, no specific words or acts are necessary, and it may be in writing or oral. 8A Am. Jur. 2d Bailments § 33. See also 8 C.J.S. Bailments § 27. Likewise, the terms of a bailment may fall into that category of non-hearsay known as "verbal acts." This "is a category of non-hearsay designated as verbal acts or verbal conduct in which the utterance of the words is,

in itself, an operative fact which gives rise to legal consequences” 29 Am. Jur. 2d Evidence § 675.

There is a class of statements to which the law attaches legal consequences. **The making of such statements creates legal rights, duties, obligations, or responsibilities, or may satisfy legal duties, obligations, or responsibilities.** These statements have legal significance entirely apart from the truth of the matters asserted. Such statements are not hearsay when offered for their legal consequences rather than for their truth.

The term “verbal acts” is applied to this class of statements. Oral or written expressions of offer and acceptance, or the exchange of promises that create a contract are examples. The dispositive provisions of a will are verbal acts, although statements of fact in a will may be hearsay. Statements made by the parties to a conspiracy in forming that conspiracy are verbal acts. Statements made in an attempt to corrupt a juror or intimidate a witness are verbal acts. A statement giving notice is a verbal act, and in a case in which it is relevant whether a party had received notice, evidence of the statement containing the notice is not hearsay. Instructions may be verbal acts.

The term “verbal act” also applies to statements that accompany conduct and explain the intent of that conduct. Thus, when a person delivers property to another, statements accompanying that transaction may be verbal acts defining the transaction as a gift, a loan, a **bailment**, or as a conditional or unconditional transfer of the property.

1 West's Pa. Prac., Evidence § 801-2 (4th ed.). ACCORD, 29A Am. Jur. 2d Evidence § 877. “A contract is a **verbal act** that has a legal reality independent of the truth of any statement contained in it.” 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 1 (emphasis added). “Words of a contract, often characterized as ‘**verbal acts**,’ are non-hearsay, as they have independent legal significance, and the law attaches duties and liabilities to their utterance.” 23 C.J.S. Criminal Procedure and Rights of Accused § 1195 (emphasis added). “Verbal acts do not fall within the hearsay rule” 31A C.J.S. Evidence § 371.

(2) *Analysis:*

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the Respondent to testify as to the amount at issue in the bailment.

First, the Appellants have totally failed to demonstrate an abuse of discretion, much less prejudice.

Second, the testimony in question was without a doubt a verbal act and, thus, non-hearsay. The Respondent testified to a bailment/contract he had with Aaron Kennedy. This testimony is covered by the verbal acts doctrine set forth above.

Third, even if there was error, it was harmless. The Appellants stipulated to the jury that the amount in question was \$208,700.00. Where is the prejudice?

Fourth, Appellants' reliance on *Deep Keel, LLC v Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 773 S.E.2d 607, 614 (S.C. Ct. App. 2013) is utterly misplaced. The individual in *Deep Keel* who offered hearsay testimony -- Bynum -- was **not** personally a party to any contact to which he testified. Bynum was **not** testifying to his contract but to someone else's contract. *Deep Keel* is not on point. The Respondent, by contrast, testified to a bailment contract which he actually had with another person, Aaron Kennedy. Tr. pp. 165-181.

Thus, the testimony, even if error, was harmless. *LaSalle Bank National Ass'n v. Davidson*, 688 S.E.2d 121, 123 (S.C. 2009).

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Appellants' arguments are without merit and should be denied. The verdict and judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT 3

The trial court properly upheld the jury's verdict that the funds were lawfully possessed by the Appellant.

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